STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Lexington County

Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 5611 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed 1/4/2019)

2013-GS-32-0890;0891;1132

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JAMES BUBBA PATTERSON,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO 2019-000465

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

RECEIVED
MAR 21 2019
S.C. SUPREME COURT

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ORIGINAL

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Did the Court of Appeals err in failing to find that the trial judge erred in admitting testimony that Petitioner's DNA was contained in the DNA database when the State failed to authenticate and establish the chain of custody for the DNA sample contained in the database?
2. Did the Court of Appeals err in failing to find that the trial judge erred in admitting testimony that Petitioner's DNA was contained in the DNA database because the testimony constituted improper evidence of a prior bad act?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In April of 2013, the Lexington County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner, James Bubba Patterson, for grand larceny, armed robbery and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, indictments #2013-GS-32-0890, 0891, 0892. On December 4, 2015, Petitioner appeared before the Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr. for a competency hearing as well as a motion by the State to obtain additional DNA samples. Robert M. Madsen represented Petitioner at the hearing. Suzanne Mayes was the prosecutor. Judge Addy found Petitioner competent to stand trial and ordered additional DNA samples.

On April 11, 2016, Petitioner proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper. Robert M. Madsen and David Michael Mauldin represented Petitioner at trial. Suzanne Mayes and Lester McGill Bell, Jr. prosecuted the case. The jury returned verdicts of guilty as charged. Judge Cooper sentenced Petitioner to twenty (20) years in prison for armed robbery, ten (10) years concurrent for grand larceny and five (5) years concurrent for the weapons charge. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on April 15, 2016, and the direct appeal perfected. On January 4, 2019, after hearing arguments on October 3, 2018, the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed the convictions and sentences. State v. Patterson, 425 S.C. 500, 823 S.E.2d 217 (Ct.App. 2019). A timely petition for rehearing was filed and then denied on February 21, 2019. This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENTS

- 1. The Court of Appeals erred in failing to find that the trial judge erred in admitting testimony that Petitioner's DNA was contained in the DNA database when the State failed to authenticate and establish the chain of custody for the DNA sample contained in the database.**

The jury found Petitioner guilty of the armed robbery of the K&M Jewelry store on May 9, 2012. Petitioner became a suspect in the robbery after his DNA was matched to DNA found on a black fedora hat left at the scene and worn by the robber during the armed robbery, as seen on video surveillance tape from the store. At trial the State attempted to introduce testimony from witness Rhonda Fields from the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division [SLED] in regard to matching DNA found on the hat to Petitioner's DNA contained in the Combined DNA Index System [CODIS]. (R. pp. 337-344). Petitioner objected to the testimony based on three separate grounds: 1.) Lieutenant David McClure of SLED, not Agent Fields, searched CODIS and made the match but the State did not plan to call Lieutenant McClure because he retired from SLED¹ (R. p. 338, lines 9-25); 2.) the State failed to establish the proper chain of custody for the DNA sample found in CODIS (R. p. 339, lines 13-15); and 3.) the testimony improperly indicated that Petitioner had a prior record (R. p. 338, lines 10-16).

The State proffered the testimony of Agent Fields. (R. pp. 342-344). Although Lieutenant McClure conducted the CODIS search, Agent Fields testified, "I'm familiar with the procedures. I don't have the documentation with me, but I believe I was involved in the review process because I worked in the DNA database unit at the time this letter was generated, so there were a couple of us assigned to the database and depending on who would have been on rotation for review I could have been involved in the review. But, again, I don't have that information on

¹ The State did not argue that Lieutenant McClure was unavailable.

the stand with me.” (R. p. 344, lines 1-8). The State decided to call Agent Fields as a witness later in the trial, presumably so she could verify that she was involved in the review of Lieutenant McClure’s match. (R. p. 344, lines 11-12).

Later in the trial the State again proffered Agent Fields’ testimony. (R. pp. 532-541). Agent Fields confirmed that she was involved in reviewing Lieutenant David McClure’s database search. (R. p. 533, lines 13-18). Petitioner again objected to the admission of Agent Fields’ testimony. (R. p. 541, line 8 – p. 542, lines 1-2). Petitioner argued that the testimony was irrelevant and even if relevant, more prejudicial than probative. Additionally, Petitioner specifically argued, “We’ve got argument under due process, Your Honor, that they can’t authenticate or give any type of chain of custody as to this sample.” (R. p. 541, lines 11-13). The State argued, “Your Honor, we do believe that we have met the criteria for admissibility pursuant to *State versus Anderson*² using the AFIS analogy.” (R. p. 542, lines 4-6). The trial judge overruled Petitioner’s objections. (R. p. 542, lines 17-18). Petitioner renewed the objection when Agent Fields testified before the jury. (R. p. 544, lines 5-6). Petitioner renewed all objections at the close of the trial (R. p. 556, line 23 – p. 557, lines 1-4) and renewed all objections after the jury returned a verdict. (R. p. 608, lines 20-23). The trial judge erred in admitting the testimony in reference to Petitioner’s DNA contained in CODIS.

In *State v. Anderson*, 386 S.C. 120, 128–29, 687 S.E.2d 35, 39 (2009) (fn #8 omitted), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

In terms of initial admissibility, Rule 901(a) provides: “[t]he requirement of authentication or identification as a condition precedent to admissibility is satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims.” Rule 901(a), SCRE. Although not exhaustive, Rule

² *State v. Anderson*, 386 S.C. 120, 122, 687 S.E.2d 35 (2009).

901 further provides examples of authentication or identification which conform with the requirements of the rule. Rule 901(b), SCRE.

One example of authentication provided by Rule 901(b)(3) is comparison by the trier of fact or by expert witnesses with specimens which have been authenticated. The DNA sample found in CODIS in the present case, however, was not authenticated. Agent Fields admitted that no chain of custody existed in regard to DNA in the database. (R. p. 538, lines 1-3).

The State's reliance on State v. Anderson, *id.* is misplaced because, unlike the fingerprint card at issue in Anderson, the DNA sample in the present case constitutes fungible evidence more analogous to the blood sample at issue in State v. Cribb, 310 S.C. 518, 426 S.E.2d 306 (1992). See Anderson, fn #4. In Cribb, 310 S.C. 518, 522, 426 S.E.2d 306, 309 (1992), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

While the admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial judge, we have held that it is an abuse of discretion to admit the results of a blood alcohol test where the identity of those who sealed, labeled, and transported the blood sample is not established. State v. Williams, 301 S.C. 369, 392 S.E.2d 181 (1990). The evidence in the record of this case does not identify those persons who handled the blood from the time it was drawn until the time it was tested. Accordingly, we conclude that the trial judge abused his discretion in admitting the blood alcohol test.

The trial judge in the present case abused his discretion in admitting testimony in regard to Petitioner's DNA sample contained in CODIS when the State failed to authenticate the sample by establishing a proper chain of custody.

Pursuant to Anderson, the State was required to establish, at the least, when the DNA sample contained in CODIS was taken and by whom the sample was taken. "As discussed by the Court of Appeals, Rich does not establish an authentication requirement that necessitates the testimony of the actual person who took the fingerprints on the master fingerprint card. Instead, it merely requires " 'evidence as to *when and by whom* the card was made and that the prints on

the card were in fact those of this defendant.’ ” Anderson, 378 S.C. at 248, 662 S.E.2d at 464 (quoting Rich, 293 S.C. at 174, 359 S.E.2d at 282).” State v. Anderson, 386 S.C. 120, 128, 687 S.E.2d 35, 39 (2009). The State failed to establish when and by whom the DNA sample contained in CODIS was taken.

The DNA database, CODIS, is an investigative tool utilized by law enforcement. In State v. Hill, 409 S.C. 50, 57, 760 S.E.2d 802, 806 (2014), a letter from SLED to a local law enforcement agency was introduced in evidence and read:

Dear Neil Livingston, the short tandem repeat, STRPCR DNA profile developed from item 19 was compared to the Combined [sic] DNA Index System, CODIS. This profile matches the STRPCR DNA profile developed from Bruce Antwain Hill. This information is provided for investigative purposes only. If the suspect is charged, an additional biological specimen must be submitted for court purposes. This search was conducted by Lieutenant David McClure with the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division.

As noted in the SLED letter in Hill, the DNA contained in CODIS does not meet the standard for admissibility pursuant to Rule 901, SCRE.

Once Petitioner was developed as a suspect through CODIS, the State obtained additional DNA samples from Petitioner and compared those samples to the DNA found on the fedora at the scene of the robbery. The fact that Petitioner’s DNA was in the database was irrelevant. As argued by Petitioner, “And then obviously it is cumulative to the DNA that they’ve already submitted and for those reasons we do not believe that it is appropriate on top of the fact that you’ve got someone else who’s done a review – or reviews what someone else has done, but if the State wanted to they could certainly have had Lieutenant McClure here.” (R. p. 541, lines 19-25). Even if relevant, the testimony was far more prejudicial than probative as discussed further in issue two. The trial judge abused his discretion in admitting testimony in

regard to the unauthenticated DNA sample from CODIS when the State failed to call the witness who conducted the search and failed to establish a proper chain of custody.

In affirming the Court of Appeals wrote:

In the case at bar, the DNA evidence was authenticated through the testimony establishing the DNA profile developed from the fedora matched both the DNA profile attributed to Patterson in the database and the DNA profile developed from Patterson after he was arrested. First, the State established the authenticity of the DNA profile that SLED entered into the database through the testimony of Boehm and Fields. Boehm had first-hand knowledge of the procedures that went into collecting, storing, maintaining, and testing the DNA profile, while Fields personally reviewed and verified the results of the DNA profile match. *See* Rule 901(b)(1), SCRE (allowing authentication through testimony by a witness with knowledge that a matter is what it is claimed to be). Boehm also testified regarding the distinctive characteristics of each DNA strand and the specific ID numbers assigned to the ones tested here. *See* Rule 901(b)(4), SCRE (providing evidence can be authenticated through proof of distinctive characteristics).

Moreover, the identity of each person that handled the DNA sample was conclusively established, and there was no evidence presented indicating the sample was tampered with. *See State v. Taylor*, 360 S.C. 18, 25, 598 S.E.2d 735, 738 (Ct. App. 2004) (“[I]f the identity of each person in the chain handling the evidence is established, and the manner of handling is reasonably demonstrated, no abuse of discretion is shown in the admission, absent proof of tampering, bad faith, or ill-motive.”). Minor discrepancies in the chain of custody implicates the credibility of the evidence, but does not render the evidence inadmissible. *See id.* at 24-25, 598 S.E.2d at 738; *State v. Smith*, 326 S.C. 39, 41-42, 482 S.E.2d 777, 779 (1997) (affirming admissibility of blood tests even though the arresting officer stored the blood sample in his home refrigerator prior to testing, noting that there was no evidence of tampering); *State v. Kahan*, 268 S.C. 240, 244, 233 S.E.2d 293, 294 (1977) (ruling the ballistics test results of a nightgown worn by the deceased and placed in the evidence locker in a plastic bag were admissible even though there was no testimony as to the care and handling of the plastic bag containing the gown during the time it was in the evidence locker). Therefore, we find the testimony of Lieutenant McClure was not necessary to establish the authenticity of the match that first identified Patterson as a suspect.

Additionally, although a perfect chain of custody was not shown for the DNA evidence that was already contained in the CODIS database, we believe the authenticity of the DNA results were nevertheless established through the independent testing of Patterson's DNA profile. Boehm was qualified as an expert in DNA analysis and she testified she matched the DNA profile taken off Patterson after his arrest with the DNA profile taken off the fedora found at the

crime scene. Both of these samples were properly authenticated at trial and are not challenged on appeal. *See* Rule 901(b)(3), SCRE (stating authentication requirement is satisfied through comparison by expert witness with specimens that have already been authenticated). Accordingly, we find no abuse of discretion and affirm as to this issue.

State v. Patterson, 425 S.C. 500, 507–09, 823 S.E.2d 217, 221–22 (Ct. App. 2019). The Court of Appeals erred.

The DNA sample found in CODIS was not authenticated by the fact that there was testimony that it matched the fedora and a known sample from Petitioner. The State did not establish the identity of each person who handled the DNA sample from CODIS. The State did not establish who took the DNA sample contained in CODIS, who sealed, labeled and transported the sample for testing or even who did the initial testing. Neither Agent Fields nor Agent McClure could authenticate the DNA sample found in CODIS. Agent Boehm testified at trial that she compared a swab from the black fedora hat found at the scene to a known buccal swab taken from Petitioner after his arrest. (R. pp. 509-526). She did not testify that she compared the profile already contained in CODIS. The DNA profile in CODIS was not authenticated pursuant to Rule 901(b)(3). The Court of Appeals erred in failing to find that the trial judge erred in admitting the testimony in reference to Petitioner’s unauthenticated DNA contained in CODIS.

2. The Court of Appeals erred in failing to find that the trial judge erred in admitting testimony that Petitioner's DNA was contained in the DNA database because the testimony constituted improper evidence of a prior bad act.

In addition to objecting to Agent Fields' testimony in regard to Petitioner's DNA contained in CODIS because the sample was not authenticated and lacked a proper chain of custody, Petitioner also objected to the testimony based on the fact that it constituted improper evidence of a prior bad act. (R. p. 338, lines 10-16). Petitioner argued, "The solicitor has indicated that they are not going to refer to CODIS, but call it a database. Your Honor, my DNA is not in a database, yours or Solicitor Mayes, so I think referring to that is going to basically be a comment on the fact of saying his DNA has been placed in there and that he has a prior record and I don't think that is appropriate." (R. p. 338, lines 10-16). After the second proffer Petitioner specifically argued, "We believe it's an attempt basically by the State under 404(b) to show a bad act. This is a law enforcement agency, SLED, and their database that's collected DNA samples. Additionally, kind of in conjunction with 404(b), it kind of goes along with 609, evidence of prior crime, so we don't believe it should come in there." (R. p. 541, lines 13-19).

In State v. Hill, 409 S.C. 50, 760 S.E.2d 802 (2014), the South Carolina Supreme Court found that a letter from SLED to a local police department referencing CODIS and, by implication, Defendant's criminal record was inadmissible but found the error in that case harmless as cumulative. The Court in Hill wrote, "Petitioner contends the circuit court erred when it admitted a SLED letter into evidence because the letter implicitly referenced Petitioner's criminal record and therefore highly prejudiced Petitioner. While we agree the admission of the letter was error, we hold that this error does not warrant reversal of Petitioner's convictions." Hill 409 S.C. at 56-57, 760 S.E.2d at 806.

Agent Fields' testimony in the present case is the equivalent of the letter in Hill and inadmissible. In the present case, however, the error was not harmless. In Hill, unlike the present case, there was other evidence of Petitioner's DNA being in the CODIS database. "While we do not condone the publishing of this letter to the jury, its admission does not amount to reversible error. The evidence contained in this letter was merely cumulative to other evidence of Petitioner's DNA being in the CODIS database. Accordingly, we find that the publication of this letter was harmless in light of the other evidence which was admitted without objection." Hill 409 S.C. at 56-57, 760 S.E.2d at 806. Unlike Hill, Petitioner in the present case objected to all references to his DNA being in the CODIS database.

The reference to CODIS, by implication, improperly referenced Petitioner's prior record. The reference was prejudicial. The reference to Petitioner's DNA being contained in CODIS in the present case is distinguished from the vague reference to a fingerprint card that was found harmless in State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 13, 515 S.E.2d 508, 514 (1999). Fingerprints may be on file in the Integrated Automated Fingerprint Identification System [IAFIS or AFIS] and available to law enforcement for a number of reasons other than an arrest or conviction including employee background checks, licensing and other non-criminal justice purposes where authorized. The DNA database, on the other hand, contains convicted offender DNA profiles and, in some states, arrestee profiles. There does not appear to be a civil component, as with AFIS, in the DNA databases.

While the State in the present case did not attempt to introduce the letter, as in the Hill case, and did not introduce evidence as to why Petitioner's DNA was in the database and there was no specific reference to a prior crime, the clear inference was that Petitioner had been convicted of a crime of a serious nature requiring that a DNA sample be maintained in the

database. Additionally, the State referenced the DNA database in closing argument. (R. p. 564, lines 6-8). The error in admitting the testimony that Petitioner's DNA was contained in the DNA database was not harmless in the present case.

“Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith.” Rule 404(b), SCRE; see State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 415–16, 118 S.E. 803, 807 (1923) (noting the rule “universally recognized and firmly established in all English-speaking countries, that evidence of other distinct crimes committed by the accused may not be adduced merely to raise an inference or to corroborate the prosecution's theory of the defendant's guilt of the particular crime charged”). “However, such evidence may be admissible to show motive, identity, the existence of a common scheme or plan, the absence of mistake or accident, or intent.” Rule 404(b). As a threshold matter, the trial court must determine whether the proffered evidence is relevant as required under Rule 401, SCRE. State v. Clasby, 385 S.C. 148, 154, 682 S.E.2d 892, 895. If the trial court finds the evidence is relevant, it must then determine whether the bad act evidence fits within an exception in Rule 404(b). Id. Even if prior bad act evidence falls within an exception, it must be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice to the defendant. Clasby, 385 S.C. at 155, 682 S.E.2d at 896.

As argued by Petitioner, the DNA database testimony was irrelevant in light of the fact that the State obtained additional DNA samples from Petitioner. (R. p. 541, lines 8-22). The State could simply have argued that Petitioner was developed as a suspect without regard to the DNA database. Even if relevant, the evidence does not meet an exception under Rule 404(b) and the testimony that Petitioner's DNA was in the database, inferring that he had a prior record, was

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