STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

On Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals  
Appeal from Lexington County  
Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2019-000465

---

RECEIVED

MAR 28 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

JAMES BUBBA PATTERSON,

Petitioner.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

S. R. HUBBARD, III  
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

205 E. Main Street  
Lexington Judicial Center  
Lexington, SC 29072  
(803) 785-8352

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

ensure that the item is what it is purported to be.”). Patterson’s petition for a writ of certiorari should be denied.

**B. Proper Admission of the Evidence Related to the DNA Database Search**

All relevant evidence is admissible, and only relevant evidence should be admitted at trial. Douglas, 369 S.C. at 430, 632 S.E.2d at 848; see Rule 402, SCRE (“All relevant evidence is admissible, except as otherwise provided by the Constitution of the United States, the Constitution of the State of South Carolina, statutes, these rules, or by other rules promulgated by the Supreme Court of South Carolina. Evidence which is not relevant is not admissible.”).

“Evidence is relevant if it tends to establish or make more or less probable some matter in issue upon which it directly or indirectly bears.” State v. Alexander, 303 S.C. 377, 380, 401 S.E.2d 146, 148 (1991); see Rule 401, SCRE (“ ‘Relevant evidence’ means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.’ ”). Importantly, if evidence could assist the jury in arriving at the truth of an issue, it is relevant and should be admitted during trial. State v. Schmidt, 288 S.C. 301, 303, 342 S.E.2d 401, 403 (1986).

In particular, courts in South Carolina and throughout the country have repeatedly recognized evidence related to and explaining the investigative steps taken during the course of a criminal investigation can be relevant and admissible during a criminal trial. See State v. Brown, 317 S.C. 55, 63, 451 S.E.2d 888, 894 (1994) (finding evidence related to out-of-court statements to be admissible where it was not offered for the truth of those statements and, instead, was only offered to explain why an investigative step was undertaken); State v. Thompson, 352 S.C. 552, 558, 575 S.E.2d 77, 81 (Ct. App. 2003) (“Evidence explaining why law enforcement is in a particular area has been held to be relevant information for the jury to consider.”); see also

United States v. Love, 767 F.2d 1052, 1063 (4th Cir. 1985) (finding evidence related to out-of-court information that led law enforcement officers to undertake particular actions to be admissible where it “was offered not for its truth but only to explain why the officers and agents made the preparations that they did in anticipation of the appellants’ arrest”); People v. Johnson, 499 N.E.2d 1355, 1365 (Ill. 1986) (“The consequential steps in the investigation of a crime are relevant when necessary and important to a full explanation of the State’s case to the trier of fact.”); Eastwood v. State, 984 N.E.2d 637, 642 (Ind. Ct. App. 2012) (finding evidence to be relevant where it explained how a law enforcement investigation came to focus on Eastwood as a suspect instead of some other individual, to show what investigative steps were undertaken, and to explain why an officer engaged in interactions with Eastwood). Similarly, courts throughout the country have found testimony establishing a particular defendant was identified as a suspect through a search of the Combined DNA Index System (“CODIS”) database to be relevant in criminal cases. See, e.g., People v. Harland, 251 P.3d 515, 517-518 (Colo. Ct. App. 2010) (finding evidence establishing Harland was identified as a suspect following a search of a DNA database containing his DNA profile was relevant and properly admitted during trial); People v. Jackson, 903 N.E.2d 388, 398-399 (Ill. 2009) (concluding the trial judge did not abuse his discretion by permitting limited testimony regarding a DNA database search to be presented); State v. McMillian, 295 S.W.2d 537, 541 (Mo. Ct. App. 2009) (finding evidence establishing McMillian was identified as a suspect following a search of a DNA database containing his DNA profile was properly admitted).

However, even if relevant, evidence must be excluded from trial if its probative value is *substantially outweighed* by the danger of unfair prejudice. State v. Wiles, 383 S.C. 151, 158, 679 S.E.2d 172, 176 (2009); see Rule 403, SCRE (“Although relevant, evidence may be

excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.”); see also Old Chief v. United States, 519 U.S. 172, 181 (1997) (“The term ‘unfair prejudice,’ as to a criminal defendant, speaks to the capacity of some concededly relevant evidence to lure the factfinder into declaring guilt on a ground different from proof specific to the offense charged.”). Furthermore, evidence of prior bad acts is generally not admissible to prove a defendant’s guilt for the charged crime. State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 211, 631 S.E.2d 262, 267 (2006); see Rule 404(b), SCRE (“Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith.”). Significantly though, “evidence which is ‘logically relevant to establish a material element of the offense charged is not to be excluded merely because it incidentally reveals the accused’s guilt of another crime.’ ” Wiles, 383 S.C. at 158, 679 S.E.2d at 176 (quoting State v. Green, 261 S.C. 366, 371, 200 S.E.2d 74, 77 (1973)).

In the case at bar, evidence related to the fact Patterson was identified as a suspect in the armed robbery after a search of SLED’s DNA database revealed Patterson’s DNA profile matched the robber’s DNA profile was highly relevant and entirely necessary to explain to the jury how and why Patterson—as opposed to some other individual—was singled out as a suspect in the investigation, included in the photographic lineup shown to Mancine, and ultimately arrested and charged for the criminal acts he committed in connection to the robbery. See McMillian, 295 S.W.2d at 540 (“In cases where a ‘hit’ or match is made, the State needs to be able to explain how a particular individual became a suspect, especially where . . . a considerable period of time has passed since the offense.”); see also Harland, 251 P.3d at 517 (finding evidence related to DNA database searches to be relevant because “it explained how [Harland]

became a suspect after scores of leads had not panned out over several months, an important point because (1) absent the explanation, the jury would be left to speculate as to how [Harland] became a suspect, and (2) [Harland]’s defense was mistaken identity”). Significantly, without that evidence, the State’s case would have had a substantial gap in the chain of events that led to Patterson’s arrest, and the jury would have been forced to decide Patterson’s guilt with no logical explanation for how or why the investigation came to focus on him, which could have potentially led to a finding of reasonable doubt that could not otherwise rightfully be found with access to the probative evidence filling that gap and which could have been readily exploited by defense counsel.<sup>8</sup> See Byrd, 357 N.E.2d at 179 (“The State must be permitted to make some explanation why a previously unidentified defendant was arrested and shown to the victim of a crime. If this were not permitted defense counsel could play upon it in argument, asking why the defendant—of all the men in the world—was on trial, insinuating that the accused was arrested without reason.”). As a result, the evidence related to the DNA database search was highly probative to Patterson’s case. See Jackson, 903 N.E.2d at 399 (“[W]ithout Boicken’s brief testimony as to how [Jackson] was first identified, so that the buccal swab could be obtained, the jury would have been left with a large time gap and no explanation as to how authorities were able to identify defendant and charge him with the murder six years after it occurred. These circumstances, therefore, weigh in favor of allowing the testimony at issue into evidence.”).

Moreover, based on the fact the jury was presented with only limited information in regard to the DNA database search that simply conveyed Patterson was identified as a suspect

---

<sup>8</sup> Notably, demonstrating the high likelihood defense counsel would have relied on any gap in the investigation left by the evidence presented when arguing to the jury the State had failed to meet its burden of proof, defense counsel in Patterson’s case focused his remarks in his closing argument on the evidence the jury did *not* hear while contending testimony from the witnesses to the robbery that was not offered during trial would likely have been detrimental to the State’s case since it was not introduced. (R. pp. 573-574).

after his DNA profile was determined to match the DNA profile developed from the robber's hat, the admission of that evidence was not unduly or improperly prejudicial to him.<sup>9</sup> See Scales v. State, 712 S.E.2d 555, 561 (Ga. Ct. App. 2011) (“[E]vidence of a matching DNA profile in a government database does not, in and of itself, constitute impermissible character evidence when no reference is made as to why the matching sample was collected or stored and when no reference is made linking the defendant’s DNA profile to other criminal activity.”).

Significantly, that is true because the jury was presented with *no* evidence suggesting Patterson’s DNA profile was in the database based on a prior conviction or arrest, and neither the solicitor nor anyone else ever asked the jury to draw such a negative inference from that evidence at any point during Patterson’s trial. See Atteberry v. State, 911 N.E.2d 601, 609 (Ind. Ct. App. 2009) (rejecting Atteberry’s claim the jury could have inferred he had previously been convicted of a crime from evidence his DNA profile was contained in a national database as “nothing more than speculation” in light of the fact the evidence presented did not suggest only convicted offenders’ profiles were included in that database). Similarly, as SLED’s DNA database contains DNA profile’s from a wide variety of sources, it is highly unlikely the jury would have drawn any adverse inference from the limited evidence presented during Patterson’s trial in regard to the DNA database search. See Jackson, 903 N.E.2d at 401-402 (“[C]ontrary to defendant’s contention, the conclusion that the use of the term CODIS in popular crime dramas to refer to the means of identifying suspects from a DNA database, without other information, argument or evidence that the singular source of the DNA was convicted criminals, is completely

---

<sup>9</sup> Importantly, the evidence related to the DNA database search was limited to the extent the letter regarding the match discovered as a result of the search was *not* admitted into evidence during Patterson’s trial as was found to be improper by this Court in an earlier decision. See State v. Hill, 409 S.C. 50, 57-58, 760 S.E.2d 802, 806 (2014) (finding the trial judge erred by admitting a letter regarding a DNA database match discovered as a result of a search of SLED’s DNA database but concluding the trial judge’s error was entirely harmless under the circumstances).

unwarranted.”); see also Whatley v. State, 146 So. 3d 437, 466 (Ala. Crim. App. 2010) (holding “testimony of the mere existence of a defendant’s DNA profile in the CODIS database does not ‘per se’ imply the existence of a criminal history”). As a result, the potential for undue prejudice that could have resulted from the evidence related to the DNA database search was very minimal and did not substantially outweigh the evidence’s high probative value. See United States v. Jenkins, 887 A.2d 1013, 1025, n. 2 (D.C. Cir. 2005) (“[C]onveying to the jury that the defendant was first identified through a search of an offender database has not been deemed so substantially prejudicial as to outweigh the probative value of such evidence.”).

Because the evidence related to the DNA database search was highly probative in Patterson’s case and that probative value was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, the trial judge’s decision to admit that evidence in the limited manner necessary to explain to the jury how Patterson was identified as a suspect in the jewelry store robbery did not constitute a prejudicial abuse of discretion. See Wiles, 383 S.C. at 158, 679 S.E.2d at 176 (“[E]ven where the evidence is shown to be relevant, if its probative value *is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice*, the evidence must be excluded.” (emphasis added)); see also Scales, 712 S.E.2d at 561-562 (“Given that the trial court’s order was properly and narrowly tailored to exclude any impermissible character evidence, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting information concerning CODIS and Scales’ matching DNA profile for the limited, relevant purpose of explaining ‘why this fourteen year old case is now being prosecuted and how the investigation came to focus on the Defendant.’ ”). Under those circumstances, there was no proper basis to disturb the trial judge’s evidentiary ruling on appeal,

and the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial judge's ruling.<sup>10</sup> See Douglas, 369 S.C. at 429, 632 S.E.2d at 847-848 (instructing a trial judge's evidentiary ruling will not be reversed on appeal absent a manifest prejudicial abuse of discretion). Patterson's petition for a writ of certiorari should be denied.

---

<sup>10</sup> Furthermore, even assuming the trial judge somehow erred by permitting the introduction of the evidence related to the search of the DNA database, any error that could have resulted from the admission of that evidence was entirely harmless for a variety of different reasons. Initially, any error was entirely harmless because Fields's testimony establishing the DNA database search resulted in the discovery Patterson's DNA profile matched the DNA profile developed from the robber's hat was merely cumulative to the unobjected-to testimony of Investigator Wade, who informed the jury without objection he received notice from SLED and its DNA database that identified Patterson as a suspect in the robbery. See State v. Blackburn, 271 S.C. 324, 329, 247 S.E.2d 334, 337 (1978) ("Under settled principles, the admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other evidence."). Likewise, to the extent the challenged evidence established Patterson's DNA profile matched the DNA profile developed from the hat, that evidence was merely cumulative to the other evidence presented during trial that established the exact same thing, which consisted of Boehm's testimony regarding the analysis she conducted with the DNA sample collected from Patterson following his arrest. See State v. Oglesby, 384 S.C. 289, 293, 681 S.E.2d 620, 622 (Ct. App. 2009) ("[T]he admission of improper evidence is deemed harmless if it is merely cumulative to other evidence."). Additionally, any error resulting from the admission of the evidence regarding the DNA database search was entirely harmless because that testimony at worst, only constituted a vague and brief reference to Patterson's prior criminal activity. See State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 13, 515 S.E.2d 508, 514 (1999) (finding no prejudice resulted from the admission of testimony establishing law enforcement already had Council's fingerprints on record at the time of his arrest for the charged offense). Finally, any error resulting from the admission of the DNA database evidence was entirely harmless in light of the other unrebutted and overwhelming evidence of guilt presented during trial, which included the other DNA evidence that is not being challenged on appeal, the eyewitness identification evidence establishing Mancine identified Patterson as the robber both in a photographic lineup and in the courtroom, the evidence establishing Patterson's physical characteristics closely matched the physical characteristics of the robber, and the evidence linking Patterson to the particular van suspected to have been used by the robber. See State v. Gathers, 295 S.C. 476, 480-481, 369 S.E.2d 140, 143 (1988) (finding an error to be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in light of the overwhelming evidence of the appellant's guilt that was presented during trial); see also State v. Tench, 353 S.C. 531, 537, 579 S.E.2d 314, 317 (2003) ("Given the abundant evidence of Tench's guilt, we find any error in admission of the seized items clearly harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.").

**CONCLUSION**

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the petition for a writ of certiorari should be denied.